MISSOURI DENTAL BOARD,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 98-3234 DB




)

STEVEN F. ROTH, D.D.S.,
)




)



Respondent.
)

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER


On November 19, 1998, the Missouri Dental Board filed a complaint asserting that Steven F. Roth’s license to practice dentistry is subject to discipline.  


On May 25, 1999, the Board filed a motion for summary determination.  We gave Roth until June 17, 1999, to respond, but he did not file a response.  


Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-2.450(4)C provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the Board establishes facts that (a) Roth does not dispute and (b) entitle the Board to 

a favorable decision.  Section 536.073.3, RSMo Supp. 1998;
 ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. 

Mid-Am. Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W.2d 371, 380-82 (Mo. banc 1993). 


In support of its motion, the Board relies on Roth’s failure to answer the request for admissions that it sent to Roth.  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request 

for admissions establishes the matters in the request conclusively.  The party making the request is entitled to rely upon the facts asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.  Killian Constr. Co. v. Tri-City Constr. Co., 693 S.W.2d 819, 827 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact or any application of law to fact.  Linde v. Kilbourne, 543 S.W.2d 543, 545-46 (Mo. App., W.D. 1976).  That rules applies to all parties, including those acting without an attorney.  Research Hosp. v. Williams, 651 S.W.2d 667, 669 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).  Section 536.073, RSMo Supp. 1998, and our Regulation 1 CSR 15-2.420(1) apply that rule to this case.

Findings of Fact 

1. Roth is licensed by the Board as a dentist, License No. 012102.  Roth’s license is and was at all relevant times current and active, except for the time period of December 1, 1996, to March 31, 1997.

2. Roth operated a dental office at 522 East Second Street, Scott City, Missouri, 63780.  Since approximately July 1995, due to a medical condition, Roth has not actively practiced dentistry.

3. At all relevant times, Roth was registered to order, accept, prescribe, and dispense all schedules of controlled substances with the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA), Registration No. AR6004787.  At all relevant times prior to July 1, 1996, Roth was registered to order, accept, prescribe, and dispense all schedules of controlled substances with the Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (BNDD), Missouri Department of Health, Registration No. 1305806.

Recordkeeping
4. Roth ordered and received controlled substances as follows:


Dates
Distributor
Drug
Quantity
Schedule
Jan. 1993 – Apr. 1995
Henry Schein Inc.
Darvocet N-100
14,400 tab.
IV



or generic equiv.



Propoxyphene



Napsylate with



APAP

Jan. 1993 – Apr. 1995
Henry Schein Inc.
Hydrocodone
1,000 tab.
III



with APAP

Jan. 1993 – Apr. 1995
Forest Pharmaceuticals
Lorcet Plus
240 tab.
III

Jan. 1993 – Apr. 1995
Forest Pharmaceuticals
Lorcet 10/650
576 tab.
III

Jan. 1994 – Aug. 1994
Whitby Pharmaceuticals
Lortab 7.5
150 tab.
III

Jan. 1994 – Aug. 1994
Whitby Pharmaceuticals
Lortab 5
90 tab.
III

Jan. 1994 – Aug. 1994 
Whitby Pharmaceuticals
Lortab Elixir
90 1-oz
III





bottles

Jan. 1993 – Aug. 1995
Sanofi-Winthrop
Talwin NX
350 tab.
IV

5. On at least one occasion, Roth dispensed a controlled substance identified in Finding 4.

6. Roth failed to keep accurate and continuing records of controlled substances that he dispensed.  According to his records, he had shortages for some drugs and overages for others.  Roth made no entries past December 1994, and thus failed to keep up-to-date dispensing records.    

7. Roth failed to maintain complete records of controlled substances that he received and dispensed.  His dispensing records did not show the address of the patient or the initials of the person dispensing the prescription.   

8. Roth failed to maintain any dispensing records for Darvocet N-100 or its generic equivalent, Propoxyphene Napsylate with APAP.  

9. On or about February 14, 1995, Roth forwarded his controlled substance records to his accountant, although his dental office was his registered location to receive and dispense controlled substances.  

10. Roth failed to conduct any biennial inventory for controlled substances that he received and dispensed.  

11. The controlled substances described in Finding 4 that Roth dispensed to patients did not have a label warning that it is a criminal offense to transfer such narcotic or dangerous drug to any person other than the patient.  

12. Roth stored the controlled substances described in Finding 4 in an unlocked desk drawer. 

13. Roth failed to keep the controlled substances described in Finding 4 in a securely locked, substantially constructed cabinet, thereby failing to provide adequate physical security controls for his controlled substances.

Prescribing Without a License, BNDD Registration,

and/or Physician/Patient Relationship

14. Between December 1, 1996, and March 31, 1997, Roth did not hold a current dental license.  Roth's failure to hold a current dental license during that time period rendered him unable to lawfully issue prescriptions.  Roth authorized the following prescriptions when he was not licensed:


Date
Drug
Patient


01/27/97
Penicillin 500 mg
M.F.


01/27/97
Promethazine 25 mg
M.F.


01/17/97
Promethazine 25 mg
M.F.


01/17/97
Penicillin 500 mg
M.F.


12/30/96
Carisoprodol/Soma 350 mg
M.M.


01/17/97
Ampicillin 500 mg
D.T.


01/23/97
Amoxicillin 250 mg
A.S.


01/16/97
Mylan/Tetracycline 500 mg
J.M.


1/11/97
Penicillin VK 500 mg
M.A.


01/31/97
Penicillin VK 500 mg
N.W.


02/03/97
Penicillin VK 500 mg
S.F.


02/03/97
Penicillin VK 500 mg
M.A.


02/10/97
Carisoprodol/Soma 350 mg
M.M.


02/10/97
Amitriptyline 50 mg
M.M.


02/17/97
Penicillin VK 500 mg
L.B.


12/31/96
Penicillin VK 500 mg
M.A.


01/31/97
Penicillin VK 500 mg
N.W.


02/24/97
Zithromax 250 mg
M.F.


02/24/97
Promethazine/Phenergan 25 mg
M.F.


02/06/97
Augmentin 400 mg
N.D.


02/22/97
Augmentin 875 mg
N.D.


02/14/97
Carisoprodol/Soma 350 mg
M.M.


02/18/97
V-Cillin K 500 mg
S.K.


12/13/97
Zithromax 250 mg
T.P.


12/26/96
Zithromax 250 mg
T.P.


12/02/96
Zithromax 250 mg
T.P.


01/20/97
Zithromax 250 mg
R.F.

15. Roth’s BNDD registration expired on June 30, 1996.

16. The expiration of Roth’s BNDD registration rendered him unable to lawfully issue prescriptions for controlled substances after June 30, 1996.

17. Roth authorized the following prescriptions for controlled substances after his BNDD registration had expired:


Date
Drug
Patient


01/23/97
Hydrocodone/APAP
A.H.


10/30/96
Hydrocodone/APAP
A.H.


10/30/96
Propoxyphene Napsylate/APAP
A.H.


11/04/96
Hydrocodone/APAP
A.H.


07/31/96
Hydrocodone/APAP
J.S.


07/16/96
Lorcet 10/650
L.B.


01/16/97
Lorcet 10/650
K.D.


10/23/96
Lorcet 10/650
K.D.


09/16/96
Fiorinal with Codeine
K.D.


08/24/96 
Fiorinal with Codeine
K.D.


08/15/96
Lorcet 10/650
K.D.


07/29/96
Lorcet 10/650
K.D.


01/27/97
Lorcet 10/650
M.F.


01/17/97
Lorcet 10/650
M.F.


01/10/97
Lorcet 10/650
M.F.


07/02/96
Lorcet 10/650
H.H.


11/29/96
Valium 5 mg
C.I.


11/29/96
Lorcet 10/650
C.I.


11/26/96
Lorcet 10/650
C.I.


08/22/96
Lorcet 10/650
G.K.


07/05/96
Lorcet 10/650
G.K.


11/14/96
Lorcet 10/650
D.M.


07/16/96
Fiorinal with Codeine
D.M.


08/10/96
Diazepam 10 mg
M.B.M.


08/10/96
Lorcet 10/650
M.B.M.


2/10/97
Diazepam 10 mg
M.M.


02/10/97
Hydrocodone w/ APAP
M.M.


01/08/97
Diazepam 10 mg
M.M.


01/08/97
Hydrocodone w/ APAP
M.M.


02/10/97
Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


01/23/97
Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


10/23/96
Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


01/23/97
Diazepam 10 mg
B.S.


12/18/96
Diazepam 10 mg
B.S.


11/14/96
Diazepam 10 mg
B.S.


01/17/97
Lorcet 10/650
D.T.


07/26/96
Lorcet 10/650
R.U.


07/16/96
Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


06/16/96
Lorcet 10/650
T.W.


02/17/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
L.B.


08/17/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
G.F.


08/26/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
G.F.


09/02/96
Percocet/Oxycodone
T.B.


09/97/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


09/09/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.M.


09/11/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.T.


08/30/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.B.


09/15/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.


09/18/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.T.


09/24/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.M.


09/28/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.B.


09/30/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


09/30/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.T.


09/30/96
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
J.M.


09/30/96
Propoxyphene Napsylate/APAP
J.M.


09/30/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.M.


10/04/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.O.


10/09/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


10/05/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
Q.R.


10/09/96
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
C.W.


10/14/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


10/14/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.O.


10/25/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


10/29/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


11/01/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
D.T.


11/06/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.M.


11/12/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


11/12/96 
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.O.


12/12/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


12/12/96
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
C.W.


12/17/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.F.


12/17/96
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
C.F.


12/18/96
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
J.M.


12/18/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.M.


12/26/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.B.


12/27/96
Tylenol #3
S.F.


12/30/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
Q.R.


12/30/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.H.


12/31/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.A.


01/02/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


01/06/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.M.


01/08/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
A.S.


01/11/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.A.


01/11/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
Q.R.


01/20/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.M.


01/20/97
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
J.M.


01/24/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
A.H.


01/25/97
Valium/Diazepam 5 mg
J.M.


01/25/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.M.


01/24/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.D.


01/31/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
N.W.


01/31/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
A.S.


01/31/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


02/03/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


02/03/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.A.


02/05/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.B.


02/09/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
Q.R.


02/10/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
A.S.


02/12/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.C.


02/14/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.M.


02/14/97
Valium/Diazepam 5 mg
J.M.


02/17/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


02/17/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
L.B.


02/21/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


02/21/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.C.


02/21/97
Valium/Diazepam
C.W.


02/27/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.C.


02/27/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.A.


07/25/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
L.B.


07/22/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.B.


09/11/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
L.B.


08/02/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.B.


08/29/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.C.


11/13/96
Lortab 10/500
S.C.


11/13/96
Tylenol #3 with Codeine
S.C.


10/15/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.C.


12/09/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.B.


01/06/97
Lortab 10/500
S.C.


09/06/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.C.


09/07/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.C.


07/31/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


08/12/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


08/21/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 7.5/650
R.F.J.


09/01/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


10/16/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


11/04/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


10/28/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


12/09/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


12/05/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


11/13/96
Tylenol #3 with Codeine
R.F.J.


01/02/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


01/20/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


02/03/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.J.


09/23/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


02/24/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.F.


07/19/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


08/10/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


09/97/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
S.F.


07/03/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.G.


08/21/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
K.H.


10/26/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
A.H.


11/03/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
A.H.


07/17/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 7.5/650
J.A.I.


07/25/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.A.I.


07/29/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.A.I.


07/19/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.A.I.


01/23/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.J.


02/18/97
Fiorinal #3 with Codeine
S.K.


10/22/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.M.


10/22/96
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
R.M.


11/30/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.M.


11/30/96
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
R.M.


01/02/97
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
R.M.


01/02/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.M.


02/12/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.M.


02/12/97
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
R.M.


02/14/97
Fiorinal #3 with Codeine
M.M.


07/25/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.M.


08/17/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.M.


09/13/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.O.


09/12/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
T.P.


08/22/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
B.O.


11/16/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
T.P.


12/02/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
T.P.


12/13/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
T.P.


12/26/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
T.P.


01/08/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
T.P.


01/22/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
T.P.


02/05/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
T.P.


08/30/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
Q.R.


07/02/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.R.


09/08/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
E.R.


09/07/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
Q.R.


07/03/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


09/18/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


10/30/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


01/24/97
Lortab 10/500
S.C.


12/23/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


08/16/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.S.


07/08/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


07/27/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


08/03/96
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
C.W.


08/09/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


09/13/96
Valium/Diazepam 10 mg
C.W.


09/13/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
C.W.


07/27/96
Stadol NS 10 mg
M.B.M.


02/24/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
M.F.


08/11/96
Oxycodone/Tylox 5/500
C.C.


10/06/96
MS Contin\Oramorph 60 mg
R.F.


08/14/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


08/19/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


08/26/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


09/02/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


08/14/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


10/07/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.


10/09/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
R.F.


02/03/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


01/26/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


01/20/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


01/13/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


01/06/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


12/30/97
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


12/17/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.


12/09/96
Hydrocodone/Lorcet 10/650
J.S.

18. When Roth issued the prescriptions identified in Findings 13 and 16 after June 1995, Roth did not have an active dentist-patient relationship with the prescription recipient.

Continuing Education
19. Roth was required to complete and report 75 hours of continuing dental education for the time period between December 1, 1993, and November 30, 1996, in order for his dental license to be renewed for the December 1, 1996, through November 30, 1997, licensure year. This requirement was stated on the renewal form that Roth completed.

20. On the renewal form that Roth completed and signed, he reported completing 75 hours of continuing dental education for the December 1, 1993, through November 30, 1996, time period.

21. The Board attempted to conduct an audit of Roth’s continuing education.

22. The Board contacted Roth on or about April 30, 1997, and requested that he provide the Board with documentation of the 75 hours that he claimed to have completed on his renewal form.

23. In response to the April 30, 1997, request, Roth indicated that he had in storage completion certificates for the continuing education that he had completed in storage and that he would retrieve them and provide them to the Board.

24. Roth failed to provide completion certificates for continuing education to the Board.

25. On or about May 5, 1997, the Board contacted Roth regarding the audit of his continuing education hours.

26. Roth again failed to provide, and could not locate, any records showing completion of any continuing education.

27. The Board sent Roth a letter on May 9, 1997, requesting documentation of continuing education hours within ten days.

28. Roth failed to respond in any way to the May 9, 1997, letter.

29. Roth told a Board investigator that all continuing education that he completed between December 1, 1993, and November 30, 1996, was taken through the American Academy of Head, Neck and Facial Pain.

30. Between December 1, 1993, and November 30, 1996, Roth only completed 15 hours of continuing education given by the American Academy of Head, Neck and Facial Pain.

31. Roth only completed 15 hours of continuing education between December 1, 1993, and November 30, 1996.

Conclusions of Law


This Commission has jurisdiction over the Board’s complaint.  Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 1998.  The Board has the burden of proof on its complaint.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  

I.  Count 1:  Violations of State and Federal Drug Laws and Regulations

A. Recordkeeping Requirements


Section 195.050.6 states:


Every person registered to manufacture, distribute or dispense controlled substances under sections 195.005 to 195.425 shall keep records and inventories of all such drugs in conformance with the recordkeeping and inventory requirements of federal law, 

and in accordance with any additional regulations of the department of health.


Federal Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1304.04(a)
 requires:  


Every inventory and other records required to be kept under this part shall be kept by the registrant and be available, for at least 2 years from the date of such inventory or records, for inspection and copying by authorized employees of the Administration, except that financial and shipping records (such as invoices and packing slips but not executed order forms subject to Sec. 1305.13 of this chapter) may be kept at a central location, rather than at the registered location[.]


19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(C) similarly mandates retention of inventories and other records for at least two years by the registrant from the date of such inventory or record.  


Federal Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1304.03(b) states:


A registered individual practitioner is required to keep records, as described in Sec. 1304.04, of controlled substances in Schedules II, III, IV, and V which are dispensed, other than by prescribing or administering in the course of professional practice.


Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1304.04(f) states:  


(1) Inventories and records of controlled substances listed in Schedules I and II shall be maintained separately from all of the records of the registrant; and 


(2) Inventories and records of controlled substances listed in Schedules III, IV, and V shall be maintained either separately from all other records of the registrant or in such form that the information required is readily retrievable from the ordinary business records of the registrant.  


Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1304.04(g) states:


Each registered individual practitioner required to keep records . . . shall maintain inventories and records of controlled substances in the manner prescribed in paragraph (f) of this section.


Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(E) states:  


Each registered individual practitioner required to keep records and institutional practitioner shall maintain inventories and records of controlled substances in the manner prescribed in subsection (3)(D) of this rule.  


Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(D) requires the same records and inventories as 21 C.F.R. § 1304.04(f). 


Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(B)2 states:


2.  Registered individual practitioners and institutional practitioners are required to keep records with respect to controlled substances listed in Schedule II which are prescribed and Schedules II-V controlled substances where are administered or dispensed.


Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1304.21(a) requires:


On and after May 1, 1971, every registrant required to keep records pursuant to § 1304.03 shall maintain on a current basis a complete and accurate record of each substance . . . sold, delivered, exported, or otherwise disposed of by him, except that no registrant shall be required to maintain a perpetual inventory.


Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(P)(1) states:  


Every registrant required to keep records shall maintain on a current basis a complete and accurate record of each [controlled] substance manufactured, imported, received, sold, delivered, exported or otherwise disposed of by him/her, except that no registrant shall be required to maintain a perpetual inventory.  


Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(S) states:


1.  Each individual practitioner . . . shall maintain records with the following information for each controlled substance received, maintained, dispensed or disposed: 


A.  The name of the substance;


B.  Each finished form . . . and the number of units or volume of finished form in each commercial container . . .;


C.  The number of commercial containers of each finished form received from other persons, including the date of and number of containers in each receipt and the name, address, and registration number of the person from whom the containers were received;


D.  The number of units or volume of the finished form dispensed including the name and address of the person to whom it was dispensed, the date of the dispensing, the number of units or volume dispensed and the written or typewritten name or initials of the individual who dispensed or administered the substance; and


E.  The number of units or volume of the finished forms, commercial containers, or both, disposed of in any other manner by the registrant, including the date and manner of disposal and the quantity of the substance in finished form disposed.

*   *   *


3.  Individual practitioners shall maintain the records listed in subparagraphs (3)(S)1.A.-E. of this rule separately from patient medical records.

Federal Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1304.24 contains recordkeeping requirements similar to those found in 19 CSR 30-1.030(S).  


Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1304.12 requires each registrant to conduct an initial inventory.  Regulation 21 C.F.R. section 1304.13 requires an inventory of controlled substances every two years after the initial inventory.  Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(H) and (I) contain inventory requirements similar to those found in 21 C.F.R. §§ 1304.12 and 1304.13.  Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1304.11(a) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(G)1 require inventories to contain a complete and accurate record of all controlled substances on hand on the date the inventory was taken.  


By failing to answer the requests for admissions, Roth admitted that his failure to maintain accurate, complete, up-to-date, and continuing records of controlled substances that he dispensed and/or received is in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 1304 and 19 CSR 30-1.030.  Roth 

specifically admitted that his failure to maintain records of controlled substances that he 

dispensed is in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 1304.21(a) and 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(P).  Roth also admitted that his failure to maintain his controlled substance records at his registered location is in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 1304.04 and 19 CSR 30-1.030.   


Roth further admitted that his failure to conduct a biennial inventory of the controlled substances that he received and dispensed violated 21 C.F.R. § 1304.12, 21 C.F.R. § 1304.13, 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(H), and 19 CSR 30-1.030(3)(I).   

B.  Labeling Requirements


Section 195.100.3 states:


The label of a controlled substance in Schedule II, III or IV shall, when dispensed to or for a patient, contain a clear, concise warning that it is a criminal offense to transfer such narcotic or dangerous drug to any person other than the patient.


Roth admitted that the controlled substances identified in Finding 4 that he dispensed to patients did not have a label as required by section 195.100.3.   



Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.035(3) states:

(3) An individual practitioner who dispenses controlled substances shall – 

*   *   *


(B) Package all controlled substances dispensed from an individual practitioner’s inventory in compliance with the Poison Prevention Packaging Act of 1970, 15 U.S.C. 1471-1476[.]


Roth admitted that when he dispensed controlled substances to patients, he failed to dispense them in accordance with the Poison Prevention Packaging Act of 1970, and thus violated 19 CSR 30-1.035(3)(B).

C.  Inadequate Physical Security Controls


Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1301.71(a) states in part:


All applicants and registrants shall provide effective controls and procedures to guard against theft and diversion of controlled substances.  In order to determine whether a registrant has provided effective controls against diversion, the Administrator shall use the security requirements set forth in Secs. 1301.72-1301.76 as standards for the physical security controls and operating procedures necessary to prevent diversion. . . .


Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1301.75 (Physical security controls for practitioners) states in part:


(b) Controlled substances listed in Schedules II, II, IV, and V shall be stored in a securely locked, substantially constructed cabinet. . . .


Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.030(2)(A)1 states in part:


All applicants and registrants shall provide effective controls and procedures to guard against theft and diversion of controlled substances. . . .


Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.030(2)(C), Physical Security Controls for Practitioners, states in part:


1.  Controlled substances listed in Schedules I and II shall be stored in a securely locked, substantially constructed cabinet.


2.  Controlled substances listed in Schedules III, IV and V shall be stored in a securely locked, substantially constructed cabinet. . . . 


Roth admitted that he failed to maintain adequate physical security controls for controlled substances and thus violated 21 C.F.R. § 1301.71, 21 C.F.R. § 1301.75, 19 CSR 30-1.030(2)(A)1 and 19 CSR 30-1.030(2)(C).

D.  Cause for Discipline


Section 332.321.2 states in part:


The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission . . . against any holder of any 

. . . license required by this chapter . . . for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *


(3) Use of fraud, deception, misrepresentation or bribery in securing any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license issued pursuant to this chapter . . . ;

*   *   *


(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of, or relating to one’s ability to perform, the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter;


(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter; 

*   *   *


(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]


Count 1 asserts cause to discipline under paragraphs (5) and (15).  


Roth’s conduct described in Findings 6 through 12 constitutes multiple violations of state and federal drug laws and regulations.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline his license under section 332.321.2(15).  


The Board asserts that Roth demonstrated incompetence.  Roth admitted that his failure to abide by federal and state laws shows that he lacks the ability to do what professional standards require and constitutes incompetence within the functions and duties of dentistry.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline his license under section 332.321.2(5).  

II.  Count 2:  Issuance of Prescriptions Without Dental License,

BNDD Registration, or Physician-Patient Relationship


Section 195.030.2, RSMo Supp. 1996, states in part:


No person shall manufacture, compound, mix, cultivate, grow, or by any other process produce or prepare, distribute, dispense or prescribe any controlled substance and no person as a wholesaler shall supply the same, without having first obtained annually a registration issued by the department of health in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated by it.


Section 332.361 states:


1.  Any duly registered and currently licensed dentist in Missouri may write, and any pharmacist in Missouri who is currently licensed under the provisions of chapter 338, RSMo, and any amendments thereto, may fill any prescription of a duly registered and currently licensed dentist in Missouri for any drug necessary or proper in the practice of dentistry, provided that no such prescription is in violation of either the Missouri or federal narcotic drug act.


2.  Any duly registered and currently licensed dentist in Missouri may possess, have under his control, prescribe, administer, dispense, or distribute a “controlled substance” as that term is defined in section 195.010, RSMo, only to the extent that:


(1) The dentist possesses the requisite valid federal and state registration to distribute or dispense that class of controlled substance;


(2) The dentist prescribes, administers, dispenses, or distributes the controlled substance in the course of his professional practice of dentistry, and for no other reason;


(3) A bona fide dentist-patient relationship exists; and


(4) The dentist possesses, has under his control, prescribes, administers, dispenses, or distributes the controlled substance in accord with all pertinent requirements of the federal and Missouri narcotic drug and controlled substance acts, including the keeping of records and inventories when required therein.


Roth’s issuance of the prescriptions identified in Finding 16 while not holding a current BNDD registration was in violation of section 195.030, RSMo Supp. 1996.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline his license under section 332.321.2(15).  


Roth’s issuance of the prescriptions identified in Finding 13 while not holding a current dental license was in violation of section 332.361.   Roth’s issuance of the prescriptions identified in Finding 16 between December 1, 1996, and March 31, 1997, while not holding a current dental license was in violation of section 332.361.  Roth’s issuance of the prescriptions identified in Findings 13 and 16 after June 1995, when he did not have an active dentist-patient relationship with the recipient of the prescriptions, is in violation of section 332.361.  Because Roth violated section 332.361, there is cause to discipline his license under section 332.321.2(6).   


The Board argues that Roth demonstrated incompetence and misconduct.  Roth admitted that his conduct in issuing prescriptions without a current license or BNDD registration or without an active dentist-patient relationship with the recipient of the prescriptions constitutes incompetence and misconduct within the functions and duties of dentistry.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline his license under section 332.321.2(5).  

III.  Count 3:  Failure to Meet Continuing Education Requirements


Section 332.181.4 states in part:


The board shall not renew any certificate of registration of any dentist unless the licensee shall provide satisfactory evidence that he has completed seventy-five hours of continuing education within a three-year period. . . .


Regulation 4 CSR 110-2.240(2) states in part:

The board shall not issue a renewal of a dental . . . license unless the licensee completes and reports . . . a total of seventy-five (75) hours . . . of continuing dental education [within a three-year period].


(A) For the licensure renewal form due November 30, 1994, and each subsequent renewal form year after that, the licensee shall report the number of hours obtained for the year just completed and shall attest to those hours by signing the form.  Each licensee shall retain records documenting his/her completion of the required hours of continuing education for a minimum of six (6) years after the reporting period in which the continuing education was completed.  The records shall document the licensee’s attendance at the continuing education course including, but not limited to, retaining the titles of the courses taken, dates, locations, receipts, course sponsors, agendas and number of hours earned.  The board may conduct an audit of licensees to verify compliance with the continuing education requirement.  Licensees shall assist the board in its audit by providing timely and complete responses to the board’s inquiries.


Roth admitted that his conduct in failing to complete 75 hours of continuing education violated section 332.181.4 and Regulation 4 CSR 110-2.240(2)(A).  Roth admitted that he violated Regulation 4 CSR 110-2.240(2)(A) by failing to retain documentation of continuing education hours and failing to assist the Board in conducting its audit by not providing timely and complete responses.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline his license under section 332.321.2(6).  


The Board asserts that Roth demonstrated incompetence and misconduct.  Roth admitted that his conduct described in Findings 19 through 30 constitutes incompetence and misconduct within the functions and duties of dentistry.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline his license under section 332.321.2(5).  


Roth admitted that reporting 75 hours of continuing dental education in order to renew his license while actually completing only 15 hours of continuing education constitutes fraud, deception, and/or misrepresentation in securing a license.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline his license under section 332.321.2(3).   

Summary 


We conclude that there is cause to discipline Roth’s dental license under section 332.321.2(3), (5), (6), and (15).  


We grant the Board’s motion for summary determination.  


SO ORDERED on October 5, 1999.



________________________________



WILLARD C. REINE



Commissioner

�Statutory references are to the 1994 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.


�All C.F.R. citations are to the version in effect during the time of the conduct in question.  21 C.F.R. sections 1304.12, 1304.13, and 1304.24, cited herein, were removed in 1997.  62 Fed. Reg. 13960-13961 (March 24, 1997).  Because they were in effect during the time of the conduct in question, we may rely upon them as grounds for discipline.  21 C.F.R. sections 1304.11 and 1304.21 were amended in 1997.  
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